PROGRESS TOWARD A NOVEL MODEL SYSTEM TO INVESTIGATE FUNGAL ENDOPHYTIC SUPPRESSION OF HUMAN PATHOGENS IN SPINACH

by

Justin Stewart Golday

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

Master of Science



Department of Biological Sciences Hammond, Indiana May 2019

THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

Dr. Scott Bates

Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. Lindsay Gielda

Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. Curtis Creighton

Department of Biological Sciences

Approved by:

Dr. Evert Ting

Head of the Graduate Program

Dedicated to Arianna Dawn, Brooklyn Grace, and Harper Reign

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Purdue University Northwest College of Engineering and Science

Purdue University Northwest Interdisciplinary Award: Chemical Characterization of *E. coli* Suppressing Metabolites from an Endophytic Stemphylium Spinach Isolate, PNW College of Science. Co-PIs: Lindsay Gielda, Scott Bates, Dawit Gizachew, and Libbie Pelter; Period 2017-2018

Purdue University Northwest Department of Biological Science

Co-collaborating Graduate Students:

- Rachel Wallace
- Chris Welizcko

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	7
LIST OF FIGURES	
ABSTRACT	9
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	11
1.1 The Phytocentric Perspective	13
1.2 Endophytic Bacteria	
1.3 Endophytic Fungi	
1.4 Stemphylium and Endophytic relationship	
1.5 Future Directions for Endophytic Research	
1.6 Description of Project Goals	33
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Preparation of Stock Fungal Suspension	
2.2 Seed Inoculation and Initial Germination	
2.3 Preparation of Plant Containers	35
2.4 Final Inoculation Experiment Set Up	35
2.5 Growth Chamber and Conditions	
2.6 Molecular Endophyte Detection	
2.6.1 Specific Primers and Optimization	
2.6.2 DNA Extraction and PCR	
2.6.3 Restriction Endonuclease Digest Assays	39
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	40
3.1 Initial Spinach Seed Germination	40
3.2 Height Measurements of Plants from the Experimental Treatments	41
3.3 Extracted DNA Concentrations from Experimental Treatments	43
3.4 Molecular Endophyte Detection	47
3.4.1 Pleosporales-Specific PCR Primers	47
3.4.2 PCR Phase of Endophyte Detection in Experimental Treatments	47
3.4.3 Stemphylium-Specific Restriction Endonuclease Digest Assays	52

3.4.4 Restriction Endonuclease Assay Phase of Stemphylium Detection in Experim	nental
Treatments	53
3.5 Successful Inoculation in the Experiment	55
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	56
4.1 Plant Height Measurements	56
4.2 Molecular Endophyte Detection	58
4.3 Inoculation Success	59
4.4 Historical Relevance	59
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	60
REFERENCES	62

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Rates of successful spinach seed germination.	40
Table 2:	Extracted genomic DNA concentrations from individual plants treated with	
	fungal endophyte PNW2016-02	44
Table 3:	Extracted genomic DNA concentrations from individual plants treated with	
	fungal endophyte PNW2016-03	45
Table 4:	Extracted genomic DNA concentrations from non-treated control plants	46
Table 5:	Concentrations of DNA from individual plants inoculated with fungal	
	endophyte PNW2016-02 in the final phase of the inoculation experiment	
	following PCR amplification	49
Table 6:	Concentrations of DNA from individual plants inoculated with fungal	
	endophyte PNW2016-03 in the final phase of the inoculation experiment	
	following PCR amplification	51

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Image of 96-well plate germination container.	41
Figure 2:	Images of two-week old spinach seedlings with greatest height	42
Figure 3:	Bar graph of pooled plant height measurement data	42
Figure 4:	Gel images showing PCR ITS-1 amplicons from individual plants	
	inoculated with PNW2016-02	49
Figure 5:	Gel images showing PCR ITS-1 amplicons from individual plants	
	inoculated with PNW2016-03	50
Figure 6:	Gel image of PCR amplicons and restriction endonuclease digest	
	of those amplicons	52
Figure 7:	Gel image showing SnaBI cut ITS-1 PCR amplicons of individual	
	plants inoculated with PNW2016-02	54
Figure 8:	Gel image showing SnaBI cut ITS-1 PCR amplicons of individual	
	plants inoculated with PNW2016-03	54

ABSTRACT

Author: Golday, Justin, S. MS
Institution: Purdue University
Degree Received: May 2019
Title: Progress toward a Novel Model System to Investigate Fungal Endophytic Suppression of Human Pathogens in Spinach
Committee Chair: Scott Bates

Symbiotic microbes are known to benefit both human and plant hosts by influencing metabolic processes, immune defenses, and microbial colonization. Endophytic fungi are known to provide the host plant with benefits ranging from herbivore defense to enhanced immunity against phytopathogens. We have isolated the fungal endophytes Stemphylium PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 from commercial spinach tissue in an effort to characterize endophytic effects on plant health, including potential antimicrobial activity against the human pathogen E. coli O157:H7, a bacterial endophyte of spinach. Detection of *Stemphylium* in the tissue was aided by the development of a PCR-based detection method, amplifying the ITS region of the ribosomal RNA with subsequent *SnaBI* restriction enzyme digestion. Initial studies were aimed at assessing the colonization of spinach leaf tissue following Stemphylium inoculation onto pre-germinated spinach seeds. Following seed inoculation of our *Stemphylium* isolates, as measured by molecular detection, the fungus was shown to persist in the tissue over two weeks, at which point we observed a statistically significant enhancement of plant growth in PNW2016-02 individuals. This was surprising, as several *Stemphylium* species are known to be plant pathogens in plants including tomatoes, pears, and lentils. As previous studies demonstrated strong antimicrobial properties by PNW2016-02 in vitro, we hypothesize in plantae antimicrobial production could influence the composition of the endosphere microbial community. Future research is aimed at identifying microbial community changes during Stemphylium colonization in addition to in

plantae E. coli competition assays. With a recent rise in plant-based enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* O157:H7 outbreaks, this work has the potential to influence the development of novel plant therapeutics through the use of endophytic fungi, and therefore impacts the fields of commercial agriculture and public health as a naturally derived substitute for preventative chemical treatments.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Known as the endosphere, internal plant spaces hosts a vast diversity of microbes that far surpasses that of the 300,000-plus individual plant species that inhabit the Earth. Early studies of internal microbiota were limited by culture-dependent isolation procedures, however, advances in molecular and biochemical technologies, such as high-throughput sequencing, have expanded our understanding of the composition of these microbial communities, and their potential functional roles within the host. Like the internal microbiota of other species, such as humans, plant endosphere microbes can be a critical component of plant health. Understanding of specific endosphere community members and their influence on plant health can be utilized to benefit plants, just as the National Institute of Health Human Microbiome Project has enhanced our understanding of how microbiota contribute to individual well-being or disease. Genomic sequencing of hundreds of microbial strains in and upon the human body led to an explosion of research on the influences of the microbiome (Proctor et al. 2013). Continued studies into the human microbiome are demonstrating that many illnesses are associated with shifts in the structure of internal microbial communities in a manner that can favor disease (Dudek-Wicher et al. 2018; Kong et al. 2012; Dowds et al. 2015). Conversely, the human microbiome can be influenced to prevent disease and promote human health (Yousuf et al. 2019), and this phenomena is also true for vascular plants (Pérez-Jaramillo et al. 2018; Furnkranz et al. 2012). Such approaches will be critical for developing sustainable, healthy cropping systems to support agriculture under challenging scenarios of global change (Busby et al. 2017).

With advances in molecular technology, research examining questions of plant-microbe dynamics has shifted perspective, providing a closer look inside the plant endosphere to reveal

the intricacies of endophytic relationships (Hardoim et al. 2015). Microbial communities consisting of both fungal and bacterial species reside in internal plant tissue as endophytes, and these internal microbes take part in a number of interactions, from pathogenic to mutualistic. Beneficial fungal endophytes have been shown to inhibit the growth and spread of plant pathogens through competitive interactions as well as select for specific epiphytic bacteria (Arnold et al. 2007; Roberts et al. 2014). A number of endophytes produce secondary metabolites that influence microbial and plant growth as well as play key roles in competition (Strobel et al. 2002; Strobel et al. 2006; Riyaz-Ul-Hassan et al. 2012; Staniek et al. 2009). Analysis of endophyte secondary metabolites, in combination with high-throughput genomic sequencing data, holds the potential to reveal specific interactions between host plants and resident endophytes that suppress pathogens and promote plant health.

Commonly held assumptions regarding plant pathogens are also changing. For example, the fungi *Verticillium dahliae* was once recognized as an economically important pathogen of various crops; however, modern DNA-based microbial surveys of plants suggests it is a common endophyte found in healthy plants that may even suppress other fungal pathogens (Hardoim et al. 2015; Koberl et al. 2013). In addition, plant associated fungi are able to stimulate defense-related genes in their host plants when neighboring plants connected through the fungal mycelium are inoculated with pathogens (Song et al. 2010). This research suggests that exposure to particular endophytic microbes might alter not only the endosphere community, but the host community in such a way as to make plants more resistant to pathogens.

Producing safe, sustainable, and affordable food in the midst of climate change, global conflict, and a growing world population is among the major challenges of today (Urquhart et al. 2010). There is a growing recognition that knowledge of plant-microbial interactions will play an

important role in providing solutions to these challenges (Reid et al. 2012). While technological advances have allowed us to further our understanding on the diversity, ecology, and dynamics of microbial communities, we are only beginning to understand how components of these communities interact within the plant endosphere.

As complex microbial interactions are gaining increased recognition for their influence on plant species, development of model host/microbiome systems for plants was recently outlined as a top priority for plant microbiome research (Busby et al. 2017). Advancing technologies have aided in the understanding of the molecular foundations of microbiome-host physiology links, and the use of key model systems, such as gnotobiotic animals, have been essential for studying influences between a mammalian host and their residing microbiota. Similar knowledge of the relationships among plants, their microbial symbionts, and pathogens requires the development of model systems. Knowledge of plant-microbial interactions within the context of model systems holds the potential to transform agriculture, ultimately influencing our capacity to produce healthy pathogen-free plants as well as safe, sustainable food sources.

1.1 The Phytocentric Perspective

1.1.1 Diversity and Number of Plant Endophytes

The majority of plants harbor microbial symbionts, including endophytes, which range from one to several hundred species per plant (Strobel et al. 2003). It is believed that plantmicrobial symbiosis has persisted since the colonization of the first terrestrial plants, and aided in the adaptation to plant survival on land (Feijen et al. 2018). Fungi mainly belonging to the group Glomeromycota are traced back to early plant life, when adaptation to land likely required improved nutrient uptake for survival (Hardoim et al. 2015). The vast amount of evolutionary time that has passed to form plant-microbe symbiosis explains their ubiquity today. Due to their mutual presence, it is reasonable to accept that plants and their respective microbiota evolved together. This is supported by the fact that plant fungal endophytes are found in every major lineage of above-ground plants, ranging from the tropics to the arctic (Arnold et al. 2007). Each species of plant in their respective environments have developed close-interacting endophytic relationships for the most beneficial balance of survival (Arnold et al. 2007). However, despite their ubiquity, many endophytes have yet to be characterized. As more studies underline the importance of plant-endophyte interactions in plant survival, many clues to endophyte diversity are becoming apparent.

There are currently no specific estimates of the number of existing endophytes, however, approximately 90% of fungal species alone may not be described (Hyde et al. 2007), which suggest researchers are only scratching the surface of endophytic microbial diversity in general. The potential high numbers of undescribed endophytic species may, in part, be attributable to the lack of research on host plants that are viewed as irrelevant to humans, such as those not used in agriculture. However, an interest in plant endophytes due to their potential for production of natural antimicrobial compounds (Gunatilaka 2006) has stimulated endophyte research generally for all types of plants. As the tropics are among the most biologically diverse ecosystems on earth, one can assume the diverse plant species there likewise host highly diverse endophyte communities, and are ideal ecosystems to study endophytes. The use of high-throughput sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene to study bacterial endophyte communities within and around tropical rainforest plants found a strong consistency of bacterial endophyte species within plants of the same species; while among different plant species there was an increase in bacterial endophyte diversity (Haruna et al. 2017).

The plant-endophyte relationship ranges from commensal to mutualistic. The endophyte within a host plant mainly receives benefits such as nutrition, water, and physical protection; while the host plant may benefit directly from endophyte production of essential nutrients; or indirectly from production of secondary metabolites that provide protection against pathogens, insects, and herbivores (D'Amico et al. 2006). Two proposed models of endophyte mutualistic symbiosis include: constitutive mutualism, in which the endophyte is vertically transmitted through the seed; and induced mutualism, in which the endophyte is horizontally transmitted by some external source, such as the air, soil, or water (D'Amico et al. 2006). Constituent endophytes colonize the ovules of host plant seeds, persisting in successive generations of the species. Also, in areas where the same plant is cultivated for many years, endophytes remain in the soil and colonize plants through repeated horizontal transmission, developing a plant-endophyte co-evolution (D'Amico et al. 2006).

Many plants rely on endophytes to combat against disease caused by plant pathogens (Gunatilaka 2006), as a line of defense against herbivores via endophyte toxin production (Siegal et al. 1990), and in times of extreme environmental stress due to abiotic factors (Hardoim et al. 2015). Endophytes can also benefit plants by promoting growth through improved nutrient intake. For instance, the efficiency of nitrogen fixation for improved nutrient acquisition is high in endophytes such as *Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus*, as found in sugarcane plants (Dong et al. 1994). *Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus* was found to reside in the apoplastic fluid of sugarcane stems, which comprises approximately 3% stem volume, possibly accounting for the plant's periodic independence of nitrogen fertilizers due to this endophyte's nitrogen fixing function. Internal microbes such as arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) can form specialized

structures in plant tissue known as arbuscules that create an interface for nutrient exchange (Hardoim et al. 2015). For example, AMF within a plant cell can exchange plant-derived carbon sources for fungal-derived nutrients such as potassium, phosphate, and nitrogen.

Recent studies examining specific host molecular pathways involved with endophyte metabolites are aimed at identifying the specific mutualistic mechanisms of plant support. Systemic resistance, or the ability of an endophyte to modulate the plant immune response in defense against pathogens, is a field of particular interest in the study of plant pathology. It is thought that due to the comparably shorter life cycle of endophytes within their longer-living host plants, they evolve faster, while selecting for beneficial characteristics that contribute to pathogen and herbivore resistance (Carroll 1988). At the initial stage of beneficial endophyte colonization, they induce plant defenses, or induced systemic resistance (ISR), that leads to higher pathogen tolerance. However, mutual endophytes eventually overcome host defense to allow successful colonization. Products of endophytic interactions provide the plant with essential compounds such as salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA), and ethylene as signals that induce immune response (de Souza et al. 2015). These signals are received in plantae by patternrecognition receptors (PAMPS) which recognize compounds present on bacterial flagella or fungal chitin (Pieterse et al. 2014). Studying the levels of ISR response to plant pathogens, and elucidating specific interactions during an infection, are crucial to understanding the roles of endophytes and how they benefit plants. It is also important to understand how manipulating these roles could potentially maximize their benefit to the plant. The development of plantendophyte model systems could be used to further examine these roles.

Endophytes can contribute to priming, or the expression of defensive-protein coding genes, in response to exposure of a pathogen through the activation of SA-dependent and JA-

dependent pathways (Jung et al. 2012). Priming can confer an earlier and stronger immune response to a pathogen to all plant tissues, as well as neighboring plants. Generally, this heightened immune response helps defend against soil pathogens, nematodes, and chewing insects. However, with these endophytes being initial invaders themselves, they immediately begin with plant immune response manipulation to allow successful colonization.

Immune response signals may also be received when damage caused by an insect or herbivore is detected via damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Immunity is eventually developed even in the distal regions of plant tissue to protect against future exposure to the pathogen or herbivorous insect. Endophytes are central to the development of immunity, as an increase in herbivory was observed when fungal endophyte levels decreased after exogenous SA application (Bastias et al. 2017). SA, and similar compounds produced by the endophytesymbiont host plant, regulate the pathway of endophyte-produced alkaloids, which confer herbivore resistance. One main endophyte-induced alkaloid, loline, shows specificity toward invertebrate herbivores such as aphids. This was seen when levels of endophyte-conferred resistance against aphids decreased in *Lolium multiflorum* plants after hormonal treatments (Bastias et al. 2017). Essentially, if the plant is provided with SA hormone exogenously, there is a reduction in loline alkaloid production by the endophyte, therefore leaving the plant defenseless against the aphid.

It has also been reported that herbivorous insects have a preference for individual plants based on both visual and chemical cues, which can be modulated by fungal endophytes to protect the plant from these insects (Fernandez-Conradi et al. 2017). In addition to insect preference, the same endophytes may also modify the performance of the insects after the insect has chosen a plant for foraging, decreasing the insect's efficiency to forage that plant. These benefits provided by the endophyte are either direct, through the production of toxins harmful to the insect; or indirect, through the modification of plant organs or tissues, thus lessening the insect preference for that plant.

In addition to biotic factors that plants must withstand, many abiotic factors, such as drought, nitrogen deficiency, and salinity, exist which endophytes can provide the plant protection. These environmentally stressful conditions may be found globally where there is water depletion, flooding, and poor soil qualities. A recent meta-analysis was conducted to examine all available studies of endophytic benefits to plants under some type of environmental stress in controlled experimental conditions (Rho et al. 2017). This analysis concluded that the experimental treatment with an endophyte during environmental stress increased total biomass when compared to plants without treatment. It also suggests there is not a correlation with hostendophyte specificity, which most likely varies according to plant environments and conditions.

Certain endophytes have shown plant growth promotion, including increased root and shoot length, number of leaves, and an overall biomass (Rohini et al. 2017). 16 out of 96 endophytic bacteria isolated from the rhizome of ginger enhanced plant growth through metabolic processes such as nitrogen fixation and 1-amino cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) deaminase activity (Rohini et al. 2017). Nitrogen fixation aids in plant access to nutrients, and production of ACC deaminase inhibits plant ethylene synthesis (Rohini et al. 2017). Ethylene is a phytohormone known to induce premature leaf wilting when in high levels (Iqbal et al. 2017). The involvement of endophytes in processes such as these suggests a coevolution of endophytes and host plants to achieve optimum growth in a specific habitat.

Within some therapeutic and medicinal plants, such as *Echinacea purpurea*, it has been shown that alkamide accumulation resulting from endophyte interactions improve their

therapeutic and medicinal properties (Maggini et al. 2017). This accumulation is thought to be due to endophyte secondary metabolites, which are regulated by the increased expression of branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) decarboxylase gene. A higher expression of the decarboxylase gene was associated with endophyte-inoculated plants, resulting in the increased endophyte secondary metabolites which ultimately benefited the host plant through growth promotion and the increase in immune-modulatory and anti-inflammatory properties that this plant is known for (Maggini et al. 2017).

Endophytes can often provide the host plant with essential services, which in turn promotes the fitness of the endophyte itself. By understanding these interactions at the molecular level, there is potential for the improvement of plant life worldwide. Enhancing knowledge of how plants react in certain environments, and how their resident endophytes work to rescue them in times of stress, is especially important in areas of agricultural significance where understanding these dynamics will lead to better crop management.

1.1.3 Applications of Plant Endophytes in Agriculture

Using endophytes to promote plant growth and health, in place of using chemical agents, such as pesticides and fertilizers, holds the potential to improve the nutritional content of consumed plants and decrease damage to the fertility of crop fields (de Souza et al. 2015). By characterizing specific pathways involved in plant-endophyte interactions, currently used chemical agents in agriculture may be reduced by employing respective beneficial endophytes. Understanding and manipulating mechanisms involved in endophytic interactions may allow the improvement of almost any crop in any environment (Reid et al. 2012). While the introduction of native endophytes could improve crop sustainability, applications of specific essential endophytes could allow plants to thrive in areas they normally wouldn't grow. In other words, in

environments that cause too much stress on the plant to thrive, such as arid deserts or flood plains, the correctly chosen endophyte may help alleviate this stress and promote growth.

Translocation of some crops to non-native areas typically results in less efficient growth levels. This is likely due to factors such as soil composition, water management, pests, and the lack of native endophytes in and around the plant. Common remedies for low plant production to address these factors include implementation of irrigation systems, traditional plant breeding, genetic engineering, and application of chemical-based pesticides and fertilizers to enhance productivity (Reid et al. 2012). Optimizing and employing essential endophytic relationships to affected crops will likely enhance production without the use of these common methods, especially those that enlist environmentally harmful chemical treatments. For instance, the agricultural wheat grass *Achnatherum inebrians* showed increased tolerance to pathogenic fungi and drought when inoculated with the endophyte *Epichloe gansuensis* (Xia et al. 2015). The results of this study suggest that endophyte-plant interactions are present in both surrounding soil and in the phyllosphere of the plant, at not only vital moments but also during the entire life cycle.

There is evidence of benefits of utilizing indigenous soils, which contain enhancing mutualistic fungi, to agricultural plants in different areas to promote growth via abiotic and biotic stress defenses (Ridout & Newcomb 2016). As previously seen, beneficial endophytes exist in the surrounding environment as well as having a well-established role in the life cycle of a plant. When an endophyte is beneficial in one region of a plant, it will also provide the same benefit in other regions of the plant (Zahn et al. 2017). Perhaps this same method may be used as a conservation measure among endangered plants, where the beneficial endophyte is derived from healthy plants and transplanted into unhealthy individuals.

Plant-parasitic nematodes are known to devastate large numbers of crops worldwide. Currently, many chemical-based nematocidal treatments of affected crops are being banned due to their negative impact on the surrounding environment. Therefore, the use of fungal endophytes, and expression of specific secondary metabolites, are being investigated as a substitute. As these endophytes are naturally occurring in many ecosystems, species known to prevent infection by nematodes and have low environmental impact is desired. A study involving the fungal endophyte *Fusarium oxysporum* strain FO162 and its secondary metabolites resulted in the identification of metabolites which served as nematocidal compounds, as well as plant growth promoters (Bogner et al. 2016). The most effective of these compounds were identified as IAA, gibepyrone D, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid (4-HBA), and methyl 2-(4-hydroxyphenyl) acetate, which showed nematocidal activity comparable to commercial chemical treatments (Bogner et al. 2016). Discovering and implementing naturally occurring compounds for plant protection or treatment of plant disease is crucial for avoiding potential negative impacts of chemical-based treatments.

1.1.4 Applications of Plant Endophytes in Industry

The biopharmaceutical industry has concentrated much effort into the discovery of bioactive phytotherapeutic compounds. Many past studies focused solely on phytochemical interactions, whereas now the focus is on endophytic associations as well (Köberl et al. 2013). With the current increase of antibiotic resistant bacterial species, there is a focus toward secondary metabolites of plant endophytes with potential antimicrobial properties. In addition, more studies are focusing on the use of plant growth-promoting endophytes to enhance the overall growth of medicinal plants.

The plant *Teucrium polium*, from which plant tissue is harvested in traditional medicine for its antimicrobial and antiseptic properties, has recently been studied in correlation to plantendophyte relationships (Hassan 2017). Human beneficial extracts and active compounds isolated from *T. polium*, such as terpenoids and flavonoids, have been identified that have antioxidant, anticancer, antibacterial, and antifungal properties. The native habitat of the plant is arid, requiring the plant to withstand frequent environmental stress. It is hypothesized that the endophyte allow the plants to deal with these stresses. Both bacterial and fungal endophytes were isolated from *T. polium*, showing production of indole acetic acid (IAA), ammonia, and compounds capable of phosphate solubilization.

Endophyte-produced plant hormones such as IAA and phosphate solubilizers can directly benefit the plant by aiding in growth promotion and stress tolerance. Endophyte-produced IAA is namely responsible for root growth development and enhancement. Indirect growth promotion provided by endophytes includes ammonia production and degrading enzymatic molecules important for plant pathogen defense (Hassan 2017). In addition to the medicinal properties of *T*. *polium*, these endophyte secondary metabolites may also contribute to growth enhancement in other commercially relevant plants such as maize (Hassan 2017).

Perhaps one of the most prominent examples of plant endophyte use in the biopharmaceutical industry is the discovery of the endophytic fungus *Taxomyces andreanae*, which was isolated from *Taxus brevifolia* that led to the production of the widely-used anticancer drug Taxol (Tanvir et al. 2017). Since the discovery of this endophytic secondary metabolite, known as taxane, other medicinally beneficial compounds have been discovered, which has led to the formation of a billion-dollar industry (Tanvir et al. 2017).

With the use of plant-beneficial endophytes, there exists a potential of large-scale plant conservation by providing mutualistic symbionts that are not native to the plant's microbiome. As seen as a benefit to the human digestive tract, for instance, microbiota that colonize the gut co-exist as a mutual relationship, providing services such as defense against pathogenic microbes and immunity strengthening. Natural killer T (NKT) cells of the human innate and adaptive immune system that interact with commensal microbes of the intestinal mucosa to provide homeostasis and prevention of inflammation (Dowds et al. 2015). Even in times of severe intestinal bacterial infection, such as with *C. difficile*, fecal transplants containing a beneficial microbe can be used as a treatment measure to control pathogen levels through direct competition. This same concept, introducing foliar endophytes isolated from healthy plants into severely diseased plants for treatment, has been studied previously (Karlsson et al. 2014).

The endangered, fungicide-dependent plant *Phyllostegia kaalaensis* requires controlled greenhouse growth conditions since its extirpation from the wild. Without monitoring, the plant will quickly parish in the wild due to the frequent fungicidal treatments also killing-off beneficial microbes. Foliar fungicides used for these treatments contain active ingredients such as

azoxystrobin and bixafen, and which target known fungal pathogens, but may also be very broad, leading to a negative impact on surrounding plants, soil, and overall microbial community (Karlsson et al. 2014). With broad-range fungicidal treatments leading to unnecessary removal of surrounding beneficial microbes, whether in the soil or other plants, there is a need to examine alternate treatment regimes. Diseased and defenseless *P. kaalaensis* has been shown to recover following the transmission of beneficial microbiota from healthy, wild-grown relatives (Zahn et al. 2017). The once greenhouse and fungicide-dependent plant is now able to survive in natural conditions with these inoculation treatments.

As more plant species become negatively impacted by climate change, deforestation, and increasing human population, there will be a stronger need for large-scale restorations. Therefore, the use of endophytic treatment in failing plant populations may have the potential to increase successful restoration, and this is especially important for those plants that have agricultural relevance.

1.2 Endophytic Bacteria

1.2.1 The Function of Bacterial Endophytes

To date, studies of bacterial endophytes that have been isolated from both cultivated and non-cultivated plants suggest that the most frequently represented phyla include *Proteobacteria*, *Firmicutes*, *Actinobacteria*, and *Bacteriodetes* (Haruna et al. 2017). In addition to these, *Cyanobacteria*, *Acidobacteria*, and *Chloroflexi*, are isolated at a lower occurrence. Some of the commonly isolated genera belonging to these phyla include *Bacillus*, *Streptomyces*, *Pseudomonas*, and *Lysinibacillus*. The majority of bacterial endophyte studies are focused toward the discovery of active microbial compounds that may beneficially contribute to human health. However, while work in antibiotic discovery via endophyte research has been covered extensively, the beneficial effects that these endophytes have on their host plants may be often overlooked, or at least understudied.

The rhizosphere of a plant can contain 10¹⁰ bacterial cells per one gram of soil, and within this, 10,000 various bacterial species (Reid et al. 2012). Among the diverse bacterial community, many species occupy niches on and within the aboveground parts of the plant, or the phyllosphere. As with all endophytes, endophytic bacteria can be horizontally acquired from the environment each generation by remaining in the soil and attaching to seeds. The endophyte becomes internalized once the seedling emerges. Vertically transmitted endophytic bacteria maintain colonization in successive generations of a host plant by remaining in the embryo of seeds. With either mechanism of transmission, beneficial endophytes are likely selected for when they are advantageous to plant survival and growth.

1.2.2 Beneficial Endophytic Bacteria

There are numerous descriptive examples of bacterial endophytes benefiting host plants by diverse mechanisms (Eljounaidi et al. 2016; Ma et al. 2016; Tian et al. 2017; Hong et al. 2016). In addition to promoting plant growth through improved nutrient intake and stability against abiotic factors, endophytic bacteria can improve plant productivity and stress tolerance in the absence of pesticides and fertilizers, as well as facilitate phytoremediation of heavy metals and hydrocarbons (Busby et al. 2017). Endophytic bacteria can also prevent colonization of plant pathogens that lack the epiphytic stage necessary for proper chemical treatment, meaning applied treatments do not efficiently reach the internalized pathogen. Currently, insecticides are used to prevent colonization of insect-transmitted plant pathogens, but the use of endophytes as biocontrol agents is a promising field of study. The bacterial plant-pathogen *Candidatus* affects grapevine growth, among other plant species, and has shown sensitivity toward *Dyella*-like bacterial endophytes in young plants (Lidor et al. 2017). Using an anti-pathogen endophyte such as *Dyella*-like bacteria as a biocontrol agent may improve the efficiency of maintaining valued crops as opposed to using ineffective chemical treatments. Another study involving the effects of beneficial bacterial endophytes on grapevine growth includes the inhibition of *Botrytis cinerea* mold by the bacterium *Burkholderia phytofirmans*. Grapevine plants challenged with *B. cinerea* were studied to elucidate mechanisms of endophyte defense after *B. phytofirmans* PsJN treatment (Miotto-Vilanova et al. 2016). These results suggest that in addition to a direct antifungal activity by the endophyte, there was also priming of defensive mechanisms via H₂O₂ accumulation (i.e. reactive oxygen species, ROS), enhanced expression of defensive genes, and modulation of carbohydrate metabolism. These activities were not observed in non-infected plants, and ultimately promoted growth and survival (Miotto-Vilanova et al. 2016).

1.2.3 Human Pathogens as Endophytes

With an increase in the production of fresh and/or minimally-processed produce, such as lettuce, spinach, etc., there has been a related increase in foodborne illnesses caused by bacteria, viruses, and protozoa in the phyllosphere and rhizosphere of agricultural plants (Whipps et al. 2008). Some pathogenic bacteria, such as *Listeria* spp., occur naturally in surrounding soils and may spread to plants directly, or adhere to plants via water splash (Whipps et al. 2008). However, some bacterial endophytes, such as *Clostridia* spp., can exist as pathogenic microorganisms within the endosphere of a plant (Whipps et al. 2008). *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 is known to be a human pathogen found on the surface of plants, such as those that

have caused previous outbreaks, but it can also exist as a plant endophyte, making typical surface-sterilization measures ineffective against it (Shaw et al. 2008).

In addition to the use of manure fertilizer and contaminated irrigation sources, it seems that post-harvest handling and processing may also be a route of contamination of human pathogens, internalizing in the plant tissue after exposure (Brandl 2008). To help rid agricultural produce of internal pathogen colonization, more research needs to examine potential measures of *in plantae* pathogen inhibition and elimination via natural competitions of endophytic organisms.

1.3 Endophytic Fungi

1.3.1 The Function of Fungal Endophytes

As mentioned, fungal endophytes are long-time residents of terrestrial plants, having coevolved with them since their existence. Every plant that has been observed and sampled contains at least one species of endophytic fungi, found as a vast network of closely-associating microbes in most plant tissues with many functions still unknown (Reid et al. 2012). Plants and fungi have co-evolved through mutualistic interactions, providing one another adaptive benefits for optimal survival. In addition to those found in roots, many fungal endophytes reside within the above-ground plant tissue to help protect against both biotic and abiotic factors.

There is genetic linkage between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) and root nodule symbionts, which is evident of plant-endophyte evolution (Hardoim et al. 2015). AMF are members of the class *Glomeromycetes*, which are the most abundant endophytes (39%) in land plants, and are therefore of ecological and economical importance due to their ubiquity and obligatory lifestyle among agricultural plants (Hardoim et al. 2015). For example, AMF associate with the roots of 80% of land plants, extending roots by the formation of hyphae, and aid in the acquisition of nutrients, minerals, and water for the plant host (Reid & Greene 2012).

The fungal endophyte-plant relationship is perhaps the most important factor to consider when examining the success of today's evolved plant life.

1.3.2 Beneficial Endophytic Fungi

Fungal endophytes provide defense against plant pathogens and herbivores by several mechanisms, including through the production of chemical compounds such as alkaloids (Reid & Greene 2012). The fungal endophyte *Clavicipitaceae* are found to form intercellular communication networks among neighboring grass plants to produce defensive toxins against insects and grazing animals (Reid & Greene 2012). The fungal endophyte *Neotyphodium* has been found to benefit perennial ryegrass and fescue by providing protection against invading weeds and phytopathogens (Devi et al. 2015). Resident fungal endophytes also contribute to host plant protection via compounds that deter or inhibit threats, similar to mammalian immune responses mounting defensive compound cascades to recognize and neutralize foreign invaders to the system.

Other benefits provided to a host plant by endophytic fungi include improved nutrient uptake and processing, which may result in increased biomass via stimulation of plant growth (Devi et al. 2015). The introduction of the endophytic fungus *Cladorrhinum foecundissimum* showed improved phosphorus uptake via nitrogen transfer along with increased plant height in cotton (Devi et al. 2015). Fungal endophytes can also protect against abiotic stress factors, such as heat, drought, high salinity, and presence of heavy metals (Reid & Greene 2012). It is becoming more apparent that the survival of plant life in these types of extreme environments is only because of their developed relationships with beneficial endophytic fungi. Examining the specific interactions involved in unique defense mechanisms of plants can better our understanding of natural plant protection. Many endophytic fungi will only produce secondary metabolites while colonized within the host, and are not produced when the endophyte is cultured outside of the plant (Souvik et al. 2012). Many of these metabolites, including alkaloids, polyketides, and terpenoids, have been identified and characterized as having antibacterial properties. Other fungal metabolites are known to have therapeutic properties, such as antineoplastic paclitaxel, camptothecin, anticancer compounds podophyllotoxin and deoxypodophyllotoxin, the antidepressant hypericin, and the insecticides azadirachtin A and B (Souvik et al. 2012).

1.4 Stemphylium and Endophytic relationship

1.4.1 Stemphylium as a Model Organism

Stemphylium is a filamentous fungus belonging to the phylum Ascomycota, in the order Pleosporales (Saha et al. 2014). Estimated numbers of existing *Stemphylium* species vary, ranging from 20 to 30 (Câmara et al. 2002 ; Kirk et al. 2001), and even as high as 150 (Wang & Zhang 2006). In the genus, morphological characteristics, such as conidia length and appearance, have been traditionally used for species delineation (Woudenberg et al. 2017), however, molecular studies using, for example, ITS sequencing are expanding our understanding of the genus. A recent revision of *Stemphylium* species by Woudenberg et al. (2017) distinguished 28 species-clades, with many current species names being synonymous, and an additional five novel species being recognized using molecular, rather than morphological data alone. Another study examining the chemical structure of *Stemphylium* secondary metabolites, also suggest that certain taxa in the genus, namely *S. alfalfa* and *S. herbarum* with *S. vesicarium*, should be synonymized (Olsen et al. 2018).

While *Stemphylium* species are known to enter a mutualistic relationship with host plants, some species are commonly recognized agents of disease, including purple spot disease in

asparagus and brown spot disease in pears (Graf et al. 2015). Further, *S. globuliferum* has been implicated in yellow leaf spot disease in sugar beets, as well as being identified as a plant pathogen in legumes, clover, and alfalfa (Hanse et al. 2015). Other *Stemphylium*-associated plant disease affect onion, garlic, parsley, and tomato (Olsen et al. 2018).

The diversity of biological processes that some fungi possess can vary greatly among hosts, and the same may be true for *Stemphylium* species. Functional roles can be reversed between pathogenicity and mutualism depending on the plant species in which the endophyte resides (D'Amico et al. 2006). The balance between environmental stress and primary plant defenses appears to dictate the functional role of the fungus (D'Amico et al. 2006). Additionally, the timing of the shift from being a beneficial endophyte to a pathogen may be an important factor in allowing plants to mature before the onset of disease (D'Amico et al. 2006). The development of a mutual symbiotic relationship depends on the species of both the plant and the potential endophyte, in addition to conditions that favor the relationship.

To better comprehend the dynamics of plant-endophyte interactions, there is a need to develop model systems. Fully understanding how agriculturally-important plants withstand both biotic and abiotic stress through the use of endophyte treatment may have a great impact on food production sustainability (Busby et al. 2017). The fungal endophyte, *Stemphylium*, is a desirable candidate for use in such a model due to its flexibility on the plant-pathogen-to-plant-endophyte spectrum, in addition to the many desirable compounds, including antibiotics, which are produced by members of the genus.

1.4.2 Endophytic interactions by Stemphylium species

Stemphylium species may also indirectly contribute to plant health through the byproducts of plant-endophyte interactions. The results of a study involving the yellow serradella pasture plant (*Ornithopus compressus*) inoculated with *Stemphylium* showed an increase in total nutritive value for foraging (Santamaria et al. 2017). This increase in nutrition seems to be facilitated by the by-products of *Stemphylium* interactions with the plant, as measured by increases in available crude proteins and essential minerals, and a decrease in the levels of toxic elements. For instance, resulting plants showed an increase in essential minerals such as boron, phosphorus, and sulfur; as well as a decrease in phytotoxic elements such as aluminum and lead (Santamaria et al. 2017).

1.4.3 Metabolites of Stemphylium

As seen above, secondary metabolites of endophytic fungi can confer advantages to the plants they colonize by either direct or indirect interactions with phytopathogens and herbivorous insects and animals. In particular, *Stemphylium* spp. have been shown to induce antibacterial properties via secretion of secondary metabolites such as stemphol, including stemphol A and stemphol B. When compared to the broad-spectrum antibiotic ciprofloxacin, certain common pathogenic bacteria, such as *E. coli, B. cereus*, and *S. aureus*, showed similar sensitivity to the stemphol compounds, with added potency toward *E. col* (Zhou et al. 2014). Chemical analysis of *S. globuliferum* found secondary metabolites alterporriol, altersolanol, stemphypyrone, 6-O-methylalaternin, and macrosporin, all with bioactive properties (Debbab et al. 2008). In our lab, *Stemphylium*-like plesporelean endophytes isolated from commercial spinach have shown inhibitive properties toward *E. coli* O157:H7 following *in vitro* treatments.

1.5 Future Directions for Endophytic Research

Continued research in the field of endophyte-plant associations is a priority due to the potential outcomes that could benefit economically important crops. Not only the successful production of these plants is important, but also related impactful issues such as consumer health and safety, bioremediation, environmental preservation, and food sustainability, all may be improved by implementing the right endophyte treatment. Use of endophytic treatment in agriculture and bioremediation as opposed to chemical treatment, for instance, may not only improve plant health, but also replace environmentally harmful runoff. Also, with an increasing human population and decreasing food supply and sustainability, endophytic treatment could help encourage the growth of plants in less hospitable environments, such as regions with vast drought or flooding. Just as the human microbiota influences our disease-susceptibility, pathogen resistance, metabolism, and many other aspects of health, the endosphere of plants contain similar interactions that promote plant health.

To better study the integrant involvement in plant-endophyte relationships, it is crucial to develop new model systems to examine the intricacies involved. One possible endophyte to focus on may be *Stemphylium* due to its similarities to *Alternaria*, and its abundance in agriculture. There also exists a need for increased awareness for research funding, specifically research involving high throughput sequencing of microbial communities and the environmental changes that influence them. Another important step forward would be the isolation of antimicrobial compounds discovered as endophyte products that may be natural sources of novel antibiotics. With antibiotic resistance on the rise, the development of effective antibiotics is very crucial. Lastly, there is importance in research based in endophyte transfer for the purpose of soil remediation in deficient crop fields. In fields that have been either over-farmed and depleted of

nutrients, or polluted in some way, the transfer of beneficial endophytes to the soil or the plants themselves may help. There has been success in the transfer of mycorrhizal soil, where plants have recuperated after exposure to endophytic-enriched substrate. However, more work has to be done to identify which endophytes can directly benefit a plant's phyllosphere, not just the belowground rhizosphere.

1.6 Description of Project Goals

The work shown here addresses the initial steps necessary to develop a plant-endophyte model system. It involves two strains of *Stemphylium*-like fungal endophytes that were isolated in our lab from commercial spinach, named PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03. As described above, these endophytes displayed *in vitro* inhibition of human pathogen *E. coli* O157:H7. To begin examining the possibility of this antimicrobial property *in vivo*, the following goals were pursued:

- High-throughput spinach seed inoculation with PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 endophytes using a novel 96-well plate seed germination system.
- 2. Automated seedling growth of both treated and non-treated plants.
- Molecular detection assay for determining successful inoculations using our designed pleosporalean-specific ITS-1 primers.
- 4. Distinction of internalized *Stemphylium* presence among other closely related pleosporalean endophytes, such as *Alternaria*, using the restriction endonuclease *SnaBI*.

The project described here was successful in meeting these goals. Therefore, with the use of this system, work can begin to examine whether or not the *in vitro* antimicrobial ability of these endophytes can also be seen *in plantae*.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Preparation of Stock Fungal Suspension

The fungal endophyte *Stemphylium* strains PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 were isolated from commercially available spinach plants (*Spinacia oleracea*) and grown on potato dextrose agar (PDA). Actively-growing mycelium of the two strains were removed the surface of the PDA and placed in 500 mL flasks containing 150 mL sterilized dH₂0. After four weeks of growth in flasks, spore-containing fungal mycelia were visible. The fungal mycelium was removed from the flask and placed into sterile 50 mL conical tubes with 25 mL of water from the flask. A Tissue-Tearer surface-sterilized with 95% EtOH was used to homogenized the fungal tissue until a uniform liquid consistency was achieved. The resultant stock fungal suspension was then used to inoculate spinach seeds. Additionally, 1.0 mL of the fungal suspension was removed and serially diluted to a 1:10⁻⁶ dilution for plating on PDA to determine the approximate cell concentration of stock fungal suspension.

2.2 Seed Inoculation and Initial Germination

Ferry-Morse brand Matador spinach seeds were purchased from a local retailer. Prepackaged, sterile, non-tissue treated 96-well plates were used as germination containers for the spinach seeds. Vermiculite was ground to a fine powder, autoclave sterilized, and placed into each plate well as a germination substrate. Seeds were surface sterilized with 10% sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl). One seed was then placed into each of the plate wells, which were then inoculated with sterile pre-packaged disposable pipets using 0.5 ml of stock fungal suspension for each of the two endophyte strains, PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03, being tested in separate germination experimental treatments. A control plate was also prepared in a similar manner; however, each well in this plate was 'inoculated' with sterile dH₂0 rather than the stock fungal suspension. After inoculation, additional sterile vermiculite was used to completely cover each seed in the wells. Plate lids were put into place to completely enclose the prepared wells, and then each of the three plates were placed in a growth chamber for a 7-day germination period under constant soft-light from iridescent GE light bulbs (GE Lighting, Peru).

2.3 Preparation of Plant Containers

Plant containers were prepared from aluminum 8 oz. beverage cans that were thoroughly cleaned with 10% bleach, and then cut in half. The cut bottoms of the containers were taped with colored masking tape for safety and to designate each of the treatment and control plants, using one color for each of these, in the growth chamber. Jiffy brand peat soil disks were placed into each container as a growth medium. Each of the prepared containers were then placed on a tray and covered with aluminum foil for sterilization in the autoclave for 20 min. in the Liquid 4 cycle.

2.4 Final Inoculation Experiment Set Up

Seedlings from each of the 96-well plates were aseptically transplanted to plant containers that were pre-moistened with sterile water. Each of three types of color-coded containers representing the two experimental treatments and control plants were placed in a sterilized plastic plant starter trays. A total of 18 containers were prepared for each experimental and control treatments, and these were placed in three trays (3 rows of 6 plant containers in each tray) for a total of 54 plants in a random block design to mitigate potential differences in growth conditions, such as light exposure, within the growth chamber. Plant placement in the random block design was determined by first assigning a number to each row and column across the three trays to accommodate all plants. Random numbers across the range, 1–54, were generated for each container for placement in the trays according to the corresponding numbered position in one of the trays.

2.5 Growth Chamber and Conditions

All trays were placed in a growth chamber, which was consisted of a sterilized shelves, over which was suspended an iridescent lighting unit containing the GE bulbs mentioned above, that were wrapped in 6 mil plastic sheeting to minimize fungal contamination from sources outside of the chamber. Plants were watered with a mixture of sterile water and Hoagland's No. 2 Basal Salt medium (Sigma-Aldrich Co., MO, USA) prepared at a ratio of 6.05 g of Hoagland's medium per gallon of water. This liquid growth solution was supplied to the plants from a sterile five gallon bucket furnished with a pump with an automated timing system that delivered water to the trays. The growth solution was pumped into 2 cm deep groves at the bottom of each tray, and the automated delivery kept a constant supply of the growth solution in the groves throughout the course of the experiment. The growth solution was provide to the plant from the tray groves via a sterilized paper wick that was placed under the disk and folded over the container rim to reach the grove at the bottom of the tray containing the solution. Plants wicked growth solution from the tray groves as needed. Lighting was provide to the plant in the chamber for a period 12h on/12h off, controlled by an automated timing system. The experiment was run for two weeks. At the end of the experiment each plant was removed from the containers, rinsed with sterile water to remove debris, photographed, measured from the base of the stem to the tip of the longest cotyledon, and then placed into labeled cryogen tubes. Plant tissue was stored at -

80°C and later removed for DNA extraction required for the molecular fungal endophyte detection protocol.

2.6 Molecular Endophyte Detection

2.6.1 Specific Primers and Optimization

A method for detecting the *Stemphylium* strains (Pleosporales, Ascomycota) in plant tissues was develop using a combination of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification followed by a restriction enzyme assay to confirm successful endophyte inoculation of the plants. The PCR amplification phase of the molecular detection protocol first targets fungi in the Pleosporales, an order that in addition to *Stemphylium* includes the common and widespread endophyte *Alternaria*, while the restriction enzyme assay phase distinguishes between species in *Stemphylium* versus other genera, such as *Alternaria*. We designed Pleosporales-specific primers that target the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of the nuclear rRNA gene which had the following sequences: Forward – 5'- CAC CAG GAC CMA ACC ATA AAC -3'; Reverse – 5'-GCA AAG CTT GAG GGT ACA AAT G -3'. Primers were ordered from Integrated DNA Technology (IA, USA). 100µM primer stocks were prepared and placed at -20°C, from which 10µM working aliquots were prepared for each assay.

To determine optimal PCR conditions for use of with our Pleosporales-specific primers, tested various annealing temperatures in a touchdown PCR using genomic DNA extracted from mycelium of our previously isolated *Stemphylium* endophyte strains, PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03, as well as PNW2016-04 (*Chaetomium* spp.) and a commercially purchased strain of *Alternaria*. Touchdown PCR used preset thermal gradient conditions for annealing temperature tests in a Mastercycler Nexus thermocycler (Eppendorf North America, NY, USA). The following cycle conditions were determined to be optimal, and were then preset into the

thermocycler for all future PCR assays: 95°C (4:00 min.), 95°C (1:00 min.), 52°C (0:45 min.), 72°C (1:30 min.), and 72° C (4:00 min.). Amplification success of fungal ITS nrRNA gene amplicons was confirmed by gel electrophoresis in a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide (EtBr) in Tris-acetate EDTA (TAE) running buffer. Gels were run at 80V/100mAmp for ~30 minutes.

2.6.2 DNA Extraction and PCR

All plant material was ground and pulverized using liquid nitrogen in separate sterile mortars and pestles, and then placed into labeled tubes. All DNAs were stored at 20° C until use in the PCR phase for endophyte detection. DNA extraction was performed on all samples using a DNEasy Plant Mini Kit (Qiagen, KY, USA), following the kit protocol with the addition of an initial heating step at 65°C for 10 min. Isolated genomic DNA from each sample was then measured for quality and concentration using a NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Scientific, IL, USA) prior to use in PCR.

For PCR, a standard template concentration (C_f) of 2.5 ng genomic DNA/ μ L was used, which was calculated using the following formula where initial volume (V_i) of each sample was determined for 25 μ L reactions:

$$V_i = (C_f \times V_f)/C_i$$

PCR reactions were carried out on all samples using the predetermined optimized PCR cycling conditions (see above), and confirmed in gel electrophoresis following the protocol outlined above.

2.6.3 Restriction Endonuclease Digest Assays

The restriction enzyme assay phase used the *SnaBI* restriction endonuclease (New England BioLabs, MA, USA), which cut pleosporalean fungal amplicons generated in PCR to distinguish those from within the genus *Stemphylium* versus those representing other species from the Pleosporales. All amplicons were assayed using the following reaction volumes: 5.0 uL DNA, 0.5 uL *SnaBI*, 1.0 uL 10x enzyme buffer, and 3.5 uL dH20; for a total reaction volume of 10.0 uL. The reactions took place at 37°C for 1 hour, and the resultant assays were confirmed in gel electrophoresis following the protocol outlined above.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 Initial Spinach Seed Germination

Our novel method developed to inoculation spinach plants with fungal endophyte strains, began with germination of the spinach seeds soaked in our stock solution of the *Stemphylium* endophytes, either PNW2016-02 or PNW2016-03. In this initial phase of the inoculation experiment, we had successful germination of spinach seeds, with the germination rates for each set of inoculations and the control shown in Table 1. An image of the 96-well plate germination container can be seen in Figure 1 with seedlings presumably having internalized PNW2016-02. Germination success rates were generally low for all seeds included in the germination containers, with all treatments producing rates below 50%. Overall, germination success rates were higher for endophyte strain inoculated seeds, with seeds from the PNW2016-02 treatment having rates of germination that were nearly double those of the other treatments. For the final phase of the inoculation experiment, we selected 18 of germinated spinach seeds from each treatment to test if the inoculated endophyte strains would persist in the spinach plants as they grew into seedlings.

	- 1
Treatment	Germination Rate
PNW2016-02	39/96 = 41%
PNW2016-03	28/96 = 29%

21/96 = 22%

Negative Control (dH₂0)

Table 1: Rates of successful spinach seed germination in the initial phase of our experiment after inoculation with fungal endophyte strains or sterile dH₂0 in the 96-well plates.



Figure 1: In the initial phase of the inoculation experiment an image of the 96-well plate germination container shows successfully germinated spinach seeds after inoculation with fungal endophyte strain PNW2016-02. Vermiculite was used as an absorbent substrate to retain the applied fungal spore suspension for the duration of the germination period.

3.2 Height Measurements of Plants from the Experimental Treatments

In the final phase of the inoculation experiment following a 14-day growth period, spinach plants moved into the growth chamber were measured for height at the end of the experiment. The average height for plant from the PNW2016-02 inoculation treatment was 9.63 cm; with the tallest being 15.4 cm, and the shortest being 5.9 cm. For the PNW2016-03 inoculation treatment average height was 6.88 cm; and ranging from 5.1 cm to 7.9 cm. The average height of the control plants was 5.1 cm; and ranging from 4.1 cm to 6.4 cm. Plants from the inoculated treatments appeared to be generally more robust than non-treated plants, with those of the PNW2016-02 inoculation treatment being most notably so (Fig. 2). This trend was also reflected in the plant height measurements, with plants from both experimental treatments being statistically taller than the control plants (p < 0.001 for both treatments), and the PNW2016-02 inoculation treatment plants also showing a statistically significant height increase (p < 0.01) compared to those of the PNW2016-03 inoculation treatment (Fig. 3)



Figure 2: Images of two-week old spinach seedlings with greatest height after inoculation with A) PNW2016-02; B) PNW2016-03; C) un-inoculated control plants.



Figure 3: Bar graph of pooled plant height measurement data (n = 54) comparing PNW2016-02and PNW2016-03-treated to that of the non-treated control plants. Letters indicate statistical significance among the three sets of data: a, p < 0.0001 to control; b, p < 0.01 to PNW2016-02.

3.3 Extracted DNA Concentrations from Experimental Treatments

Extracted genomic DNA concentrations from individual whole plants, roots and seedling leaves, from each treatment are given in Tables 2 and 3 below, while concentration values for the individual control plants are given in Table 4. Overall, we were able to successfully extract DNA for all plants from both the experimental and control treatments that were grown in the inoculation experiment.

Table 2: Extracted genomic DNA concentrations from individual plants treated with fungal endophyte PNW2016-02. Sample identification is indicated using an alphanumeric code for each plant corresponding to its initial position in the initial 96-well plate germination. The measured nucleic acid content of each sample is reported as ng/µL. The absorbance 260/280 ratio indicates the purity of each sample.

SAMPLE ID	Nucleic Acid Conc. (ng/µL)	Abs. (260/280)
YB13	4.50	1.81
RB11	3.40	1.94
RB6	3.30	2.09
RC10	3.50	1.76
YC3	5.70	1.62
YC9	6.60	1.58
YC6	5.50	1.52
YB1	3.50	1.93
YB7	5.10	1.69
RA12	4.70	1.72
GA9	3.80	1.75
YB18	3.30	1.95
RB15	7.70	1.57
GB10	9.80	1.52
RB16	5.10	1.62
RC7	4.00	2.05

Table 3: Extracted genomic DNA concentrations from individual plants treated with fungal endophyte PNW2016-03. Sample identification is indicated using an alphanumeric code for each plant corresponding to its initial position in the initial 96-well plate germination. The measured nucleic acid content of each sample is reported as ng/µL. The absorbance 260/280 ratio indicates the purity of each sample.

SAMPLE ID	Nucleic Acid Conc. (ng/µL)	Abs. (260/280)
GA16	6.00	2.00
RA13	3.50	1.61
RA8	4.20	2.11
GA2	7.00	1.8
YA5	5.00	1.92
GA4	5.40	1.79
GB3	8.70	2.15
YC17	5.40	2.04
GC1	8.80	1.96
GC14	4.30	1.94
GC4	5.50	1.71
RB17	7.10	1.88
GC5	4.50	1.67
YC11	4.50	1.85
YC13	5.30	1.81
GA7	5.70	2.00

Table 4: Extracted genomic DNA concentrations from non-treated control plants. Sample identification is indicated using an alphanumeric code for each plant corresponding to its initial position in the initial 96-well plate germination. The measured nucleic acid content of each sample is reported as $ng/\mu L$. The absorbance 260/280 ratio indicates the purity of each sample.

SAMPLE ID	Nucleic Acid Conc. (ng/µL)	Abs. (260/280)
RC8	4.10	2.10
YB2	3.80	1.61
YC15	4.80	2.14
RA6	6.00	1.74
GB9	4.10	1.98
GC15	5.60	1.89
YB2	5.70	2.16
GA14	4.40	2.08
RC8	6.60	1.88
GB12	4.70	1.98
YB17	5.50	1.79
RA15	4.10	1.78

3.4 Molecular Endophyte Detection 3.4.1 Pleosporales-Specific PCR Primers

The internal transcribed spacer region one (ITS-1) of the nuclear rRNA gene was successfully amplified in each of our endophytic *Stemphylium* strains, showing the expected band size in the 150 bp range in gel electrophoresis (see the positive PCR control in Fig. 7 for PNW2016-02 and data not shown for PNW2016-03). The designed primers also amplified ITS-1 in *Alternaria* (see the positive fungal PCR control representing that species in Fig. 7), a common endophyte species from the Pleosporales that is closely related to *Stemphylium*. The presence of pleosporalean fungal endophytes from within plant tissue was also confirmed using our specific primers (see the positive PCR control for leaf tissue in Fig. 7). Further, we confirmed that our specific primers did not amply ITS-1 when PCR assays were carried out on DNA extracted from fungal isolates of species outside of the Pleosporales (see the negative fungal PCR control in Fig. 7 depicting *Chaetomium*, PNW2016-04, from the order Sordariales) or un-inoculated spinach plants (see the negative PCR control for leaf tissue in Fig. 7).

3.4.2 PCR Phase of Endophyte Detection in Experimental Treatments

Amplification of ITS-1 from DNA extracted from individual plants of the inoculation treatment was also successful, with gel electrophoresis showing the expected band size in the 150 bp range for both for both PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 (see Figs. 5 and 6). As expected, we did not see IT-1 amplicons in PCR with our Pleosporales-specific primers in DNA extracted from un-inoculated plants from the control treatment in the final phase of the germination experiment. With the presence and persistence of PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 confirmed



Figure 4: Gel images showing PCR ITS-1 amplicons from individual plants inoculated with PNW2016-02 in the final phase of the inoculation experiment (Top) Gel containing samples 1-7 in lanes #4-10. Lane 2 is a PCR negative control of un-inoculated plant tissue; Lane 3 is a PCR positive control of the fungal isolate PNW2016-02. (Bottom) Gel containing the remaining samples in lanes #2-10. Alphanumeric code of each sample is indicated above each amplicon band. Lane 1 in both gels contain a 1 kb DNA ladder.

Table 5: Concentrations of DNA from individual plants inoculated with the fungal endophyte PNW2016-02 in the final phase of the inoculation experiment following PCR amplification with our Pleosporales-specific primers amplifying the ITS-1 region of the nrRNA gene. Sample identification is indicated using an alphanumeric code for each plant corresponding to its initial position in the initial 96-well plate germination. The measured nucleic acid content of each sample is reported as ng/µL. The absorbance 260/280 ratio indicates the purity of each sample.

Sample ID	Nucleic Acid Conc. (ng/µL)	Abs. (260/280)
YB13	642.00	2.00
RB11	609.10	1.99
RB6	613.90	2.02
RC10	621.40	2.02
YC3	594.60	2.00
YC9	632.90	2.01
YC6	614.10	2.01
YB1	613.20	2.03
YB7	698.10	2.03
RA12	676.50	2.00
GA9	620.10	2.01
YB18	660.70	2.01
RB15	685.40	2.01
GB10	582.90	2.00
RB16	651.80	1.99
RC7	622.70	2.01



Figure 5: Gel images showing PCR ITS-1 amplicons from individual plants inoculated with PNW2016-03 in the final phase of the inoculation experiment (Top) Gel containing samples 1-7 in lanes #4-10. Lane 2 is a PCR negative control of un-inoculated plant tissue; Lane 3 is a PCR positive control of the fungal isolate PNW2016-02. (Bottom) Gel containing the remaining samples in lanes #2-10. Alphanumeric code of each sample is indicated above each amplicon band. Lane 1 in both gels contain a 1 kb DNA ladder.

Table 6: Concentrations of DNA from individual plants inoculated with the fungal endophyte PNW2016-03 in the final phase of the inoculation experiment following PCR amplification with our Pleosporales-specific primers amplifying the ITS-1 region of the nrRNA gene. Sample identification is indicated using an alphanumeric code for each plant corresponding to its initial position in the initial 96-well plate germination. The measured nucleic acid content of each sample is reported as ng/µL. The absorbance 260/280 ratio indicates the purity of each sample.

SAMPLE ID	Nucleic Acid Conc. (ng/µL)	Abs. (260/280)
GA16	641.90	2.01
RA13	608.90	2.02
RA8	628.10	2.04
GA2	652.90	1.98
YA5	719.10	1.99
GA4	663.70	2.03
GB3	640.60	2.02
YC17	673.90	1.99
GC1	605.60	2.00
GC14	709.60	2.00
GC4	663.10	2.01
RB17	689.90	2.01
GC5	705.50	2.01
YC11	662.80	2.04
YC13	711.80	1.96
GA7	643.80	2.00

3.4.3 Stemphylium-Specific Restriction Endonuclease Digest Assays

The restriction endonuclease *SnaBI* was used to distinguish *Stemphylium* endophytes from other pleosporalean fungi, such as *Alternaria*. Restriction endonuclease digest assays were performed on amplicons of fungal isolates *Stemphylium* and *Alternaria*, in addition to plant tissue from inoculated and un-inoculated plant tissue. Following the digest, gel electrophoresis showed *Stemphylium* isolates and tissue from plants inoculated with *Stemphylium* resulted in smaller *SnaBI* cut ITS-1 PCR amplicon fragments (~50 bp) as compared to *Alternaria* (~150 bp) as expected (Fig. 7). These results confirmed that the restriction endonuclease *SnaBI* is not only able to distinguish between *Stemphylium* and other pleosporalean fungal isolates, but that it can also be used to detect *Stemphylium* in inoculated plant tissue.



Figure 6: Gel image of PCR amplicons and restriction endonuclease digest of those amplicons. Lanes 4 and 5 show successful pleosporalean ITS-1 amplification from *Stemphylium* fungal isolate PNW2016-02 and fungal isolate *Alternaria*, respectfully. Lane 6 shows no amplification of ITS-1 from composite tissue of non-treated plants; whereas Lane 7 shows successful amplification of ITS-1 from composite tissue of PNW-2016-02-treated plants. Lane 8 shows the PNW2016-02 amplicon after digest with restriction endonuclease *SnaBI*. Lane 9 shows the *Alternaria* amplicon after *SnaBI* digest. Lane 10 shows 02-treated plant tissue composite amplicon after digest with *SnaBI*.

3.4.4 Restriction Endonuclease Assay Phase of *Stemphylium* Detection in Experimental Treatments

Detection of *Stemphylium* from individual plants of the inoculation treatment was also successful, with gel electrophoresis showing *SnaBI* cut ITS-1 PCR amplicon fragments of the expected size for both PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 (see Figs. 7 and 8).



Figure 7: Gel image showing *SnaBI* cut ITS-1 PCR amplicons of individual plants inoculated with PNW2016-02 in the final phase of the germination experiment. Lane 2 is positive restriction endonuclease digest assay control of the fungal isolate PNW2016-02, while lane 3 is negative restriction endonuclease digest assay control of *Alternaria*.



PNW-2016-03 plants + *SnaBl*

Figure 8: Gel image showing *SnaBI* cut ITS-1 PCR amplicons of individual plants inoculated with PNW2016-03 in the final phase of the germination experiment. Lane 3 is positive restriction endonuclease digest assay control of the fungal isolate PNW2016-02, while lane 4 is negative restriction endonuclease digest assay control of *Alternaria*.

3.5 Successful Inoculation in the Experiment

Over the course of our experiment, two of the 18 plants that were used in the inoculation experiment died in both experimental treatment groups. While factors that attributed to this plant death are unknown, we suspect that it may be related to stresses the plants were subjected to during the plant container transplanting process that was required for the final phase of the experiment. We did not notice any outward signs, such as leaf spot, on these plants suggesting that the *Stemphylium* endophytes were acting as pathogens. Both strains of our *Stemphylium* endophytes where successfully inoculated into spinach plants throughout the course of the experiment with a high rate of success, and overall we were able to achieve a 100% inoculation success using our methods for both the PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 strains.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Our understanding of plant-endophyte relationships has been expanding due to innovations in molecular biology, allowing us to take a closer look into the plant endosphere. Being able to identify the microbial constituents of the plants we eat is important for many reasons, with food safety being at the top of the list. The overall goal of any research in this field is to examine plant-endophyte relationships at the molecular level, and be able to detect the internal colonization of the endophyte in question. The work here has shown progress toward this goal by developing a system for inoculating our *Stemphylium* endophytes into spinach seeds, grow the germinated seeds in an automated plant growth system, and design a molecular screening technique to detect successful inoculation and persistence of the fungal endophyte *in plantae*. The results of this work show that this aim was successful in all aspects.

4.1 Plant Height Measurements

Overall, we were able to develop a novel inoculation system to introduce *Stemphylium* to germinating seeds and detect the endophyte in the plant tissue. Upon completion of our experiment, we noted that the *Stemphylium* strain PNW2016-02 has the potential to not only improve germination rates of endophyte inoculated plants, but our results suggest it also has the capacity to promote plant growth in spinach plants. As seen in Figure 3, plants not treated with either endophyte (i.e., negative control) had diminished capacity for growth when compared to the endophyte inoculated plants.

The desirable attributes, the promotion of plant growth and seed germination success, seen in our study did not appear consistent for all *Stemphylium* strains as we did not see as dramatic of height increase for plants inoculated with strain PNW2016-03. This further suggests

we have isolated unique strains of *Stemphylium* or that closely-related strains can have considerably different effects on plant growth. Chemical analysis of secondary metabolites derived from each of these strains may point to some differences between PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03. For instance, preliminary reports following HPLC analysis of the secondary metabolites from both strains were compared, revealing the presence of plant growth-promoting chemical compounds in PNW2016-02. The presence of these auxin-like compounds, such as 7-hydroxy-2',4',5'-trimethoxyisoflavone 7-O-glucoside and fulvine, appear to be highly expressed in the PNW2016-02 strain and align with the plant height increase seen in PNW2016-02-treated plants.

Chemical analysis of secondary metabolites derived from PNW2016-03 did not reveal the presence of these types of compounds, which is also consistent with the data from this study. Nevertheless, the enhanced plant height and increased seed germination success seen in PNW2016-02-treated plants was a serendipitous discovery, and represents attributes likely seen as desirable to commercial produce growers, thus they warrant further investigation. Being that *Stemphylium* species are widely known as a plant pathogen, there was no expectation of plant growth promotion.

Fungal species such as *Fusarium fujikuroi* and the endophyte *Porostereum spadiceum*, are both known to promote host plant growth via secretion of the metabolite gibberellin (Heden & Sponsel 2015; Hamayun et al. 2017), which ultimately increases the likelihood of their horizontal transmission to nearby plants. Perhaps the results seen here reflect a similar strategy for *Stemphylium* PNW2016-02. *Stemphylium* may provide plant growth stimulation initially to promote its own colonization, and alter metabolic function and health of the plant in mature leaves to aid in dispersal. The timing of the shift from being a beneficial endophyte to a pathogen may be an important factor in allowing plants to mature before the onset of disease (D'Amico et al. 2006). Perhaps alternating from mutualist to pathogen is a mechanism to promote conidial spore dispersal once the host plant begins to show symptoms of disease caused by the endophyte, thereby facilitating spore transfer from fallen necrotized leaves. Future work will test this question by growing PNW2016-02-treated plants long-term to observe any pathogenic symptoms that may arise, and determine if this is a mechanism employed by this endophyte. *Stemphylium* colonization levels can be monitored to assess degrees of infection using our molecular detection technique.

4.2 Molecular Endophyte Detection

The work carried out in our experiment demanded that we develop a molecular method for detecting successful inoculation of our endophytic *Stemphylium* strains into the internal tissue of spinach plants. The Pleosporales-specific primers that we designed successfully amplified the ITS-1 region of the nrRNA gene in plants inoculated with both endophyte strains, and were able to successfully distinguish between *Stemphylium* and other fungal species in the Pleosporales using the *SnaBI* restriction endonuclease digest assay. Further, we were able to use our endophyte detection system to confirm the presence and persistence of *Stemphylium* in 100% of treated plants. This was true even in plant samples showing low extracted DNA concentrations prior to PCR. The measured nucleic acid concentration from individual plant tissue samples also likely included a high proportion of genomic DNA from the spinach plant. Assuming that most of the nucleic acid content in each sample is much lower when considering the plant-toendophyte mass ratio. This suggests the primers developed here are highly effective and can be used as a part of a sensitive method for detecting *Stemphylium* in plants, and therefore could also be used in additional studies, such as the detection of fungal species in commercially grown plants and/or environmental samples. Since *Stemphylium* is primarily known for its capacity to cause plant disease, such as leaf spot, our methods could be used as a tool to determine its early onset, which could be useful in commercial crop management.

4.3 Inoculation Success

Our results indicated that our plant-endophyte inoculation system was successful in reaching the proposed aim of this work, and to the best of our knowledge, our system also represents a novel approach for mass-inoculation of fungal endophytes into produce plants that has the potential to be scalable for commercial use. Although one study was found to use 96-well plate germination containers with agar media for germinating *Arabidopsis* for genotyping (Su et al. 2011), none were found using our method for inoculating plant seeds with a fungal endophyte.

4.4 Historical Relevance of Plant-Endophyte Symbiosis

We know that endophytes can range from being mutualistic to pathogenic in their relationship with a host plant, and seen here was a possible beneficial attribute by PNW2016-02, though this was unexpected due to *Stemphylium* being known as a fungal pathogen in other plants (Graf et al. 2015; Hanse et al. 2015; Olsen et al. 2018). By using plant-endophyte model systems, such as the one developed here, inquiries into the history of plant-microbe symbioses can be made to determine shifts in endophyte colonization levels, perhaps pointing to a specific time during the life of the plant when the endophyte may change symbiotic roles. Knowing the specific colonization strategies of plant endophytes, especially those that confer an advantage to the host plant, can be helpful in agriculture and crop management.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

With our efficient inoculation system, pleosporalean endophyte *Stemphylium*-like isolates PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 were successfully inoculated into pre-germinated spinach seeds, resulting in internalization and persistence in seedlings. PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 have shown *in vitro* inhibition of *E. coli* O157:H7, likely due to the production of fungal endophyte secondary metabolites with antimicrobial properties. A major goal of developing this plant-endophyte model is to examine the inhibition of human pathogenic *E. coli* O157:H7 by the *Stemphylium*-like endophytes PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 *in plantae*. Using the methods described here, the model can aid in determining the persistence of plant-introduced microbes, and can therefore be used to assess levels of *in plantae* colonization. With this ability, assays of internal endophyte interactions can be performed to determine the effectiveness of *E. coli* O157:H7 inhibition by fungal endophyte PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03.

Another objective will be to observe long-range effects of PNW2016-02 colonization on host spinach plants. The results of the study described here showed height promotion in spinach plants inoculated with PNW2016-02. However, *Stemphylium* spp. are traditionally viewed as phyopathogens in numerous plant species, therefore plant growth promotion was not an expected outcome of these experiments. Further work will include determining at which point during growth inoculated plants begin to show symptoms of plant pathogenicity. Also examined will be whether the fungal endophyte is beneficial to the host only to aid in seedling growth to ensure its colonization, but then switch to a phytopathogenic role once it has established secure colonization. Another future goal is obtaining genomic and metagenomic data to compare PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03, in an effort to determine sequence differences. Preliminary HPLC analysis of secondary metabolites isolated from both PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03 revealed the presence of chemical compounds associated with antimicrobial properties. In addition, the chemical analysis also showed the presence of plant growth promoting compounds in PNW2016-02, which aligns with results found in this study. Metagenomic analysis of our endophytes may reveal where these properties are on the genome.

Advancements in molecular and biochemical technologies have broadened our understanding of plant-endophyte relationships by allowing us to observe their interactions in nature and in the laboratory. It has become apparent that all plants are hosts to microbial communities that reside within the plant tissue. These endophytes may play crucial roles in plant health, and have likely co-evolved with plants to optimize their growth and survival. Some endophytes, such as *E. coli* O157:H7, exist within agricultural produce as human pathogens, causing illness in consumers. The novel plant-endophyte model developed here shows potential in the examination of *in plantae* inhibition of *E. coli* O157:H7 by the fungal endophyte PNW2016-02 and PNW2016-03.

REFERENCES

- Arnold AE. 2007. Understanding the diversity of foliar fungal endophytes: progress, challenges, and frontiers. Fungal Biology Reviews 21:56-61.
- Bastías DA, Alejandra Martínez-Ghersa M, Newman JA, Card SD, Mace WJ, Gundel PE. 2018. The plant hormone salicylic acid interacts with the mechanism of anti-herbivory conferred by fungal endophytes in grasses. Plant, Cell and Environment. doi: 10.1111/pce.13102.
- Bogner CW, Kamdem RS, Sichtermann G, Matthäus C, Hölscher D, Popp J, Schouten, A. 2016.
 Bioactive secondary metabolites with multiple activities from a fungal endophyte.
 Microbial biotechnology, 10(1), 175–188. doi:10.1111/1751-7915.12467.
- Brader, G, Compant, S, Mitter, B, Trognitz, F, Sessitsch, A. 2014. Metabolic potential of endophytic bacteria. Current opinion in biotechnology 27, 30–37.
- Braga RM, Dourado MN, Araujo WL. 2016. Microbial interactions: ecology in a molecular perspective. Brazilian journal of microbiology: 47(Suppl 1), 86–98.
- Brandl MT. 2008. Plant lesions promote the rapid multiplication of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on postharvest lettuce. Applied Environmental Microbiology 74:5285-5289.
- Busby PE, Soman C, Wagner MR, Friesen ML, Kremer J, Bennett A, Morsy M, Jonathan A. Eisen JA, Leach JE, Dangl JL. 2017. Research priorities for harnessing plant microbiomes in sustainable agriculture. PLoS Biology 15:e2001793.
- Câmara MPS, O'Neill NR, van Berkum P. 2002. Phylogeny of *Stemphylium* spp. based on ITS and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase gene sequences. Mycologia 94:660–672.

- Carroll G. 1988. Fungal endophytes in stems and leaves: From latent pathogen to mutualistic symbiont. Ecology. 69: 2-9. doi:10.2307/1943154.
- D'Amico M, Frisullo S, Cirulli M. 2006. Endophytic fungi occurring in fennel, lettuce, chicory, and celery - commercial crops in southern Italy. Mycol Res. 2(Pt 1):100-7. doi: 10.1016/j.mycres.
- Debbab A, Aly AH, Edrada-Ebel R, Wray V, Müller WEG, Totzke F, Zirrgiebel U,
 Schächtele C, Kubbutat MHG, Lin WH, Mosaddak M, Hakiki A, Proksch P, Ebel R.
 2008. Bioactive metabolites from the endophytic fungus *Stemphylium globuliferum* isolated from mentha pulegium. J. Nat. Prod. 2009, 72, 626–631.
- Devi S, Momota P, N.K. Arora (ed.). 2015. Plant Microbes Symbiosis: Applied Facets, 147 DOI 10.1007/978-81-322-2068-8_7.
- De Souza SA, Rangel ALS. 2016. Endophytic colonization of Arabidopsis thaliana by *Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus* and its effect on plant growth promotion, plant physiology, and activation of plant defense Plant Soil 399:257–270 DOI 10.1007/s11104-015-2672-5.
- Dowds CM, Blumberg RS, Zeissig S. 2015. Control of intestinal homeostasis through crosstalk between natural killer T cells and the intestinal microbiota. Clinical Immunology 159:128-133.
- Dudek-Wicher RK, Junka A, Bartoszewicz M. 2018. The influence of antibiotics and dietary components on gut microbiota. Prz Gastroenterol. 13(2):85-92. doi: 10.5114/pg.2018.76005.
- Eljounaidi K, Lee SK, Bae H. 2016. Bacterial endophytes as potential biocontrol agents of vascular wilt diseases Review and future prospects. Biological Control. 103:62-68.

- Feijen FAA, Vos RA, Nuytinck J, Merckx VSFT. 2018. Evolutionary dynamics of mycorrhizal symbiosis in land plant diversification. Sci Rep 16;8(1).
- Fernandez-Conradi P, Jactel H, Robin C, Tack AJM, Castagneyrol B. 2017. Fungi reduce preference and performance of insect herbivores on challenged plants. Ecology. 9(2):300-311.
- Frank AC, Saldierna Guzmán JP, Shay JE. 2017. Transmission of bacterial endophytes. Microorganisms 5(4);70. doi:10.3390/microorganisms5040070.
- Gazis R, Rehner S, Chaverri P. 2011. Species delimitation in fungal endophyte diversity studies and its implications in ecological and biogeographic inferences. Mol. Ecol. 14:3001-3013.
- Geisen S, Kostenko O, Cnossen MC, Ten Hooven FC, Vreš B, van der Putten WH. 2017. Seed and Root Endophytic Fungi in a Range Expanding and a Related Plant Species. Front Microbiol 8:1645.
- Graf S, Bohlen-Janssen H, Miessner S, Wichura A, Stammler G. 2016. Differentiation of *Stemphylium vesicarium* from *Stemphylium botryosum* as causal agent of the purple spot disease on asparagus in Germany. Eur. J. Plant Pathol., 144:411-418.
- Gressel, J. 2017. Microbiome facilitated pest resistance: potential problems and uses. Mini Review in Pest Management Science. 74(3):511-515.
- Gunatilaka AA. 2006. Natural products from plant-associated microorganisms: distribution, structural diversity, bioactivity, and implications of their occurrence. J Nat Prod. 69(3):509-26.

- Hamayun M, Hussain A, Khan SA, Kim HY, Khan AL, Waqas M, Irshad M, Iqbal A, Rehman G, Jan S, Lee IJ. 2017. Gibberellins producing endophytic fungus *Porostereum spadiceum* AGH786 rescues growth of salt affected soybean. Front Microbiol. 8:686. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00686.
- Hanse B, Raaijmakers EEM, Schoone AHL. 2015. Stemphylium sp., the cause of yellow leaf spot disease in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) in the Netherlands. Eur J Plant Pathol 142: 319. https://doi-org.pnw.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s10658-015-0617-8.
- Hardoim PR, van Overbeek LS, Berg G, Pirttilä AM, Compant S, Campisano A, Döring M, Sessitsch A. 2015. The hidden world within plants: Ecological and evolutionary considerations for defining functioning of microbial endophytes. Microbial Molecular Biology Reviews 79:293-320.
- Haruna E, Zin NM, Kerfahi D, Adams JM. 2017. Extensive overlap of tropical rainforest bacterial endophytes between soil, plant parts, and plant species. Microb. Ecol. 5(1):88-103.
- Hassan SE. 2017. Plant growth-promoting activities for bacterial and fungal endophytes isolated from medicinal plant of *Teucrium polium* L. J. Adv Res 8(6): 687-695.
- Hawksworth, D.L. 2012. Global species numbers of fungi: are tropical studies and molecular approaches contributing to a more robust estimate? Biodivers Conserv 21: 2425. https://doi-org.pnw.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s10531-012-0335-x.
- Hedden P, Sponsel V. 2015. A century of gibberellin research. J Plant Growth Regul. 34:740– 760 DOI 10.1007/s00344-015-9546-1.
- Hong C.E., Park J.M. 2016. Endophytic bacteria as biocontrol agents against plant pathogens: current state-of-the-art. Plant Biotechnol Rep 10:353. https://doiorg.pnw.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s11816-016-0423-6.

- Iqbal N, Khan NA, Ferrante A, Trivellini A, Francini A, Khan M. 2017. Ethylene role in plant growth, development and senescence: Interaction with other phytohormones. Frontiers in plant science. 8:75. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.00475.
- Jung SC., Martinez-Medina A, Lopez-Raez JA, Pozo MJ. 2012. Mycorrhiza-induced resistance and priming of plant defenses. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 38:651-664.
- Kirk PM, Cannon PF, David JC, Stalpers JA. 2001. Ainsworth and Bisby's dictionary of the fungi. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, Oxon, p 655.
- Köberl M, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Bauer R, Berg G. 2013. The microbiome of medicinal plants: Diversity and importance for plant growth, quality and health. Frontiers in Microbiology 4:400.
- Kong HH, Oh J, Deming C, Conlan S, Grice EA, Beatson MA, Nomicos E, Polley EC,
 Komarow HD; NISC Comparative Sequence Program, Murray PR, Turner ML, Segre
 JA. 2012. Temporal shifts in the skin microbiome associated with disease flares and
 treatment in children with atopic dermatitis. Genome Research 22:850-859.
- Lidor O, Dror O, Hamershlak D, Shoshana N, Belausov E, Zahavi T, Mozes-Daube N, Naor V, Zchori-Fein E, Iasur-Kruh L, Bahar O. 2018. Introduction of a putative biocontrol agent into a range of phytoplasma- and liberibacter-susceptible crop plants. Pest Management Sciences. 4(4):811-819.
- Ma, Y, Rajkumar M, Zhang C, Freitas H. 2016. Beneficial role of bacterial endophytes in heavy metal phytoremediation. Journal of Environmental Management. 174:14-25.
- Maggini V. 2018. Plant-endophytes interaction influences the secondary metabolism in *Echinacea purpurea* (L.) Monench: an *in vitro* model. Scientific Reports 7. no 16924.

- Meena M, Gupta SK, Swapnil P, Zehra A, Dubey MK, Upadhyay RS. 2017. *Alternaria* toxins: Potential virulence factors and genes related to pathogenesis. Front Microbiol 8:1451.
- Miotto-Vilanova L, Jacquard C, Courteaux B, Wortham L, Michel J, Clément C. 2016. *Burkholderia phytofirmans* PsJN confers grapevine resistance against *Botrytis cinerea* via a direct antimicrobial effect combined with a better resource mobilization. Front Plant Sci 7:1236(2016).
- Olsen KJK, Rossman A, Andersen B. 2018. Metabolite production by species of *Stemphylium*. Fungal Biol. 2(2-3):172-181. doi: 10.1016/j.funbio.2017.12.012.
- Orfali RS, Ebrahim W, El-Shafae AM. 2017. Secondary metabolites from *Alternaria* sp., a fungal endophyte isolated from the seeds of *Ziziphus jujube*. Chem Nat Compd 53: 1031. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10600-017-2195-9.
- Pérez-Jaramillo JE, Carrión VJ, de Hollander M, Raaijmakers JM. 2018. Microbiome. 6:143 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0519-z.
- Pieterse Corné MJ, Zamioudis C, Berendsen RL, Weller DM, Saskia C.M. Van Wees, Bakker PAHM. 2014. Induced systemic resistance by beneficial microbes. Annual Review of Phytopathology 52;347-375.
- Pozo MJ, Azcon- Aguilar C. 2007. Unraveling mycorrhiza-induced resistance. Current Opinion in Plant Biology. 10;393-398.
- Proctor LM, Chhibba S, McEwen J, Peterson J , Wellington C, Baker C, Giovanni M, McInnes P, Lunsford RD. 2013. The NIH human microbiome project. Human Microbiota. doi:10.1002/9781118409855.ch1.
- Reid A, Greene SE. 2012. How microbes can help feed the world. American Academy of Microbiology. <u>https://www.asm.org/images/stories/documents/FeedTheWorld.pdf.</u>

- Rho H, Hsieh M, Kandel SL, Cantillo J, Doty SL, Kim SH. 2017. Do endophytes promote growth of host plants under stress? A meta-analysis on plant stress mitigation by endophytes. Microb Ecol. 5(2):407-418.
- Ridout M, Newcombe G. 2016. Disease suppression in winter wheat from novel symbiosis with forest fungi. Fungal Ecology. 20:40–48. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2015.10.005.
- Roberts E, Lindow S. 2014. Loline alkaloid production by fungal endophytes of *Fescue* species select for particular epiphytic bacterial microflora. The ISME Journal 8:359-368.
- Rohini S, Aswani R, Kannan M. 2018. Culturable endophytic bacteria of ginger rhizome and their remarkable multi-trait plant growth promoting features. Curr Microbiol. 75:505. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-017-1410-z.
- Saha GC, Muehlbauer FJ. 2014. Genetics and genomics of resistance to rust and *Stemphylium* blight in lentil. Legumes in the Omic Era. doi.10.1007/978-1-4614-8370-0_13.
- Saikkonen K, Gundel PE, Helander M. 2013. Chemical ecology mediated by fungal endophytes in grasses. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 39;962-968.
- Schardl CL, Florea S, Pan J, Nagabhyru P, Bec S, Calie PJ. 2013. The epichloae: alkaloid diversity and roles in symbiosis with grasses. Current Opinion in Plant Biology. 16;480-488.
- Schardl CL, Young CA, Pan J, Florea S, Takach JE, Panaccione DG, Farman ML, Webb JS,
 Jaromczyk J, Charlton ND, Nagabhyru P, Chen L, Shi C, Leuchtmann A. 2013.
 Currencies of mutualism: sources of alkaloid genes in vertically transmitted Epichloae.
 Toxins. 5;1064-1088.

- Shaw RK, Berger CN, Feys B, Knutton S, Pallen MJ, Frankel G. 2008. Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* exploits EspA filaments for attachment to salad leaves. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 74:2908-2914.
- Siegel MR, Latch GC, Bush LP, Fannin FF, Rowan DD, Tapper BA, Bacon CW, Johnson MC. 1990. Fungal endophyte-infected grasses: Alkaloid accumulation and aphid response. J Chem Ecol. 16(12):3301-15.
- Song YY, Zeng RS, Xu JF, Li J, Shen X, Yihdego WG. 2010. Interplant communication of tomato plants through underground common mycorrhizal networks. PLoS One 5:e13324.
- Souvik K, Satpal S, Jayabaskaran C. 2014. Biotechnological potential of plant-associated endophytic fungi: hope versus hype. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2014.03.009.
- Staniek A, Woerdenbag HJ, Kayser O. 2009, *Taxomyces andreanae*: A presumed paclitaxel producer demystified? Planta Medica 75:1561-1566.
- Strobel GA. 2002. Rainforest endophytes and bioactive products. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology 22:315-333.
- Strobel G. 2006. Harnessing endophytes for industrial microbiology. Current Opinion in Microbiology 9:240-244.
- Su SH, Clark KA, Gibbs NM, Bush SM, Krysan PJ. 2011. Ice-Cap: a method for growing Arabidopsis and tomato plants in 96-well plates for high-throughput genotyping. J Vis. doi: 10.3791/3280. PubMed PMID: 22105217; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3308595.
- Tanvir R., Javeed A. Bajwa AG. 2017. Endophyte bioprospecting in South Asian medicinal plants: an attractive resource for biopharmaceuticals. Applied microbiology and biotechnology 101.

- Tian B, Zhang C, Ye Y, Wen J, Wu Y, Wang H, Li H, Cai S, Cai W, Cheng Z, Lei S, Ma R, Lu C, Cao Y, Xu X, Zhang K. 2017. Beneficial traits of bacterial endophytes belonging to the core communities of the tomato root microbiome. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment. 247:149-156.
- Ul-Hassan SR, Strobel GA, Booth E, Knighton B, Floerchinger C, Sears J. 2012. Modulation of volatile organic compound formation in the Mycodiesel-producing endophyte *Hypoxylon* sp. CI-4. Microbiology 158:464-473.
- Urquhart A. 2010. WFP and climate change: A review of ongoing experience and recommendations for action. World Food Programme Occasional Papers 23:1-25.
- Verhage A, Saskia SM van Wees, Corné M.J. Pieterse. 2010. Plant immunity: its the hormones talking, but what do they say? Plant Physiology 154, 536-540.
- Wang Y, Zhang XG. 2006. Three new species of *Stemphylium* from China. Mycotaxon 96:77–81.
- Wasternack C, Hause B, 2013. Jasmonates: biosynthesis, perception, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. An update to the 2007 review in Annals of Botany. Annals of Botany 111;1021-1058.
- Woudenberg JHC, Hanse B, van Leeuwen GCM, Groenewald JZ, Crous PW. 2017. Stemphylium revisited. Studies in Mycology, 87:77-103. ISSN 0166-0616.
- Xia C, Zhang X, Christensen MJ, Nan Z, Li C. 2015. Epichloë endophyte affects the ability of powdery mildew (*Blumeria graminis*) to colonise drunken horse grass (*Achnatherum inebrians*). Fungal Ecology.16:26–33. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2015.02.003.

- You M, Litke JL, Jaffrey SR. 2015. Imaging metabolite dynamics in living cells using a spinachbased riboswitch. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112:E2756-E2765.
- Yousuf B, Mishra A. 2019. Exploring human bacterial diversity toward prevention of infectious disease and health promotion. Microbial Diversity in the Genomic Era. Academic Press. 519-533. ISBN 9780128148495.
- Zahn G, Amend AS. 2017. Foliar microbiome transplants confer disease resistance in a critically endangered plant. Peer Journal. 5;e4020.
- Zhou X-M, Zheng C-J, Chen G-Y, Song X-P, Han C-R, Tang X-Z, Liu R-J, Ren L-L. 2015. Two new stemphol sulfates from the mangrove endophytic fungus *Stemphylium* sp. 33231 The Journal of Antibiotics 68(501-503).